
REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

DATE:  June 16, 2025 
TIME:  4:30 p.m. 
LOCATION: Council Chambers, Enderby City Hall 

The public may attend this meeting in person or by means of electronic facilities. 

The City of Enderby uses Zoom for its electronic facilities and encourages those who are unfamiliar with 
the application to test it in advance; for technical support, please contact Zoom. 

The access codes for this meeting are: 

Meeting ID: 861 8877 5602 
Passcode: 925227 

If you would like to attend this meeting by means of electronic facilities and do not have a computer or 
mobile phone capable of using Zoom, please let us know and we can provide you with a number that you 
can call in from a regular telephone. 

When applicable, public hearing materials are available for inspection at 
www.cityofenderby.com/hearings/ 

1. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
We respectfully acknowledge that we are on the traditional and unceded territory of
the Secwepemc.

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
THAT the June 16, 2025 Council Meeting agenda be approved as circulated.

3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

3.1 Meeting Minutes of June 2, 2025 Page 5 
THAT the June 2, 2025 Council Meeting minutes be adopted as circulated.

4. DEVELOPMENT MATTERS AND RELATED BYLAWS

4.1 Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw No. 1820, 2025 – 612 Cliff Avenue Page 16 
Memo prepared by Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw
Compliance dated June 10, 2025
THAT Council gives three readings to Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw
No. 1820, 2025;

AND THAT the Corporate Officer be authorized to file in the land title office a
notice that the property legally described as PARCEL B (DD 179916F) BLOCK 13
DISTRICT LOT 150 KAMLOOPS (FORMERLY OSOYOOS) DIVISION YALE
DISTRICT PLAN 211A, and located at 612 Cliff Avenue, Enderby BC is subject to
the attached Housing Agreement;

AND FURTHER THAT the Corporate Officer be authorized to register a Section
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219 Covenant (Housing Agreement) on the title of the property legally described 
as PARCEL B (DD 179916F) BLOCK 13 DISTRICT LOT 150 KAMLOOPS 
(FORMERLY OSOYOOS) DIVISION YALE DISTRICT PLAN 211A, and located at 
612 Cliff Avenue, Enderby BC. 

5. CONTINUING BUSINESS AND BUSINESS ARISING FROM COMMITTEES
AND DELEGATIONS

5.1 Request for Installation of Crosswalk at Intersection of Brickyard Road and
Pleasant Avenue
Memo prepared by Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw
Compliance dated June 10, 2025
THAT Council directs Staff to engage with the Road Safety Engineer Consultant
associated with the Vision Zero Grant Program in order to discuss the viability of
installing a crosswalk at the intersection Brickyard Road and Pleasant Avenue
and explore alternative traffic management strategies that may be more
appropriate for that particular intersection.

5.2 UBCM 2025 Provincial Meeting Requests and Attendance
Memo prepared by Chief Administrative Officer dated May 23, 2025
THAT Council identifies the topics for which it wishes to request meetings at the
2025 Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) convention;

AND THAT Council indicates the request that it wishes to pose at its meetings,
the lead spokesperson, and the members who are planning to attend;

AND FURTHER THAT Council indicates any meeting topics for which it wishes
staff to prepare an information brief.

6. REPORTS

6.1 Mayor and Council Reports

6.2 Area F Director Report

6.3 Chief Administrative Officer Report

6.3.1 Council Inquiries

6.4 Annual Municipal Report 2024

6.4.1 Meeting on Annual Municipal Report 2024
Submissions and Questions from the Public 

6.4.2 Consideration and Acceptance of the Annual Municipal Report 2024 Page 35 
THAT Council considers any public input received; 

AND THAT Council Approves the 2024 Annual Report. 

6.5 RDNO Building Permit Report – May 2025 Page 74 
THAT the RDNO Building Permit Report – May 2025 be received and filed. 

6.6 Bylaw Enforcement Statistics for First Period of 2025 (Jan – Apr) Page 75 
Memo prepared by Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw 
Compliance dated June 6, 2025 
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THAT Council receives and files the memorandum titled “Bylaw Enforcement 
Statistics for First Period of 2025 (Jan – Apr)”. 

7. NEW BUSINESS

7.1 Proclamation of National Drowning Prevention Week 2025 Page 78 
Memo prepared by Chief Administrative Officer dated June 2, 2025
THAT Council provides an opportunity for Enderby & District Recreation Services
to request that Council declares National Drowning Prevention Week;

AND THAT Council declares July 20-26, 2025 as National Drowning Prevention
Week in the City of Enderby;

AND FURTHER THAT Council authorizes the Mayor and Corporate Officer to
sign and seal a proclamation to this effect.

7.2 SDC Classic Golf & Cultural Event Page 80 
Sponsorship, Registration & Information Package
THAT Council authorizes    to attend the SDC Classic Golf & Cultural
Event with the cost funded from the relationship building budget line item.

7.3 Friday Night Lights Burnout Competition – Letter of Support Page 90 
Memo prepared by Manager of Strategic Priorities and Community Services dated
June 11, 2025
THAT Council directs staff to issue a letter of support to Autowear Accessories to
host a Burnout Competition, as part of Friday Night Lights on Friday, August 15,
2025.

7.4 Portable Dance Floor for Community Events Page 92 
Memo prepared by Manager of Strategic Priorities and Community Services dated
June 12, 2025
THAT Council directs staff to purchase a 9’ x 9’ portable dance floor kit using
available Music by the River sponsorship funds after all other event expenses
have been incurred, with the remainder to be funded through prior event surplus.

7.5 Municipal Security Issuing Resolutions – 2025 Borrowing Page 95 
Memo prepared by Chief Financial Officer dated June 9, 2025
THAT subject to the City receiving the Certificate of Approval for Barnes Park
Outdoor Pool Loan Authorization Bylaw No. 1815, 2025, Council adopts the
following resolution:

THAT Council approve borrowing from the Municipal Finance Authority of British
Columbia, as part of the 2025 Fall Borrowing Session, One Million Eight Hundred
Thousand Dollars as authorized through “Barnes Park Outdoor Pool Loan
Authorization Bylaw No. 1815, 2025” and that the Regional District of North
Okanagan be requested to consent to our borrowing over a twenty year term and
include the borrowing in a Security Issuing Bylaw.

8. CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION ITEMS
Mayor or Chair will provide an opportunity for any Council member to request that
a Correspondence and Information Item be discussed separately.
THAT Council receives and files all Correspondence and Information Items.

8.1 One-Year Anniversary of Implementation of Small-Scale Multi-Unit Housing
Requirements

Page 96 
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Correspondence from Ravi Kahlon, Minister of Housing and Municipal Affairs 
dated May 29, 2025 

8.2 Miscellaneous Statutes Amendments Act (Bill 13) Page 98 
Correspondence from Tara Faganello, Assistant Deputy Minister, Local 
Government Division, Ministry of Housing and Municipal Affairs dated May 30, 
2025 

8.3 Funding for Public Education Page 103 
Correspondence from David Lepsoe, Mayor, on behalf of Council for the Village of 
Chase dated June 5, 2025 

9. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD

10. ADJOURNMENT
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY 

Minutes of a Regular Meeting of Council held on Monday, June 2, 2025 at 4:30 p.m. in Council 
Chambers. 

Present: Mayor Huck Galbraith 
Councillor Tundra Baird 
Councillor Roxanne Davyduke 
Councillor David Ramey 
Councillor Sarah Yerhoff 

Absent: Councillor Brian Schreiner 
Councillor Shawn Shishido 

Staff: Chief Administrative Officer – Tate Bengtson 
Chief Financial Officer – Jennifer Bellamy 
Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw Compliance – Kurt Inglis 
Manager of Strategic Priorities and Community Services – Kelsey Campbell 
Clerk-Secretary – Andraya Holmes  

Other: Press and Public 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

We respectfully acknowledge that we are on the traditional and unceded territory of the 
Secwepemc. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Moved by Councillor Ramey, seconded by Councillor Baird 
THAT the June 2, 2025 Council Meeting agenda be approved as circulated. 

CARRIED 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

Meeting Minutes of May 20, 2025 

Moved by Councillor Yerhoff, seconded by Councillor Ramey 
THAT the May 20, 2025 Council Meeting minutes be adopted as circulated. 

CARRIED 

DELEGATIONS 

MLA David Williams 

MLA David Williams was not in attendance. 
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Presentation of Enderby Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan 

Liam Curran, Fuel Management Specialist, Forsite, explained that Forsite was retained in 2024 
to complete a Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan for the City of Enderby.  

The plan covers the City of Enderby and also looks at land within a 1km radius of the City 
boundary. It is created based on the 7 FireSmart disciplines to address wildfire preparedness 
from different angles.  

The objective of the Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan is to identify wildfire hazards and risks 
and provide recommendations to mitigate them.  

One recommendation of the plan is to manage fuels in Johnston Park and use this as a demo 
project, with educational signage to teach park users about wildfire fuel mitigation.  

Having a Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan in place gives the City the opportunity to apply for 
a wide range of funding for FireSmart and other wildfire risk reduction projects.  

Cross Walk at the Pleasant Avenue and Brickyard Road Intersection 

Blake Purr, Member at Large, and Preston Freeman, Grade 9 Representative, A.L. Fortune 
Student Government, requested that a crosswalk be placed across Brickyard Road at Pleasant 
Avenue. 

Explained that many students cross Brickyard Road at this intersection before and after school, 
as well as at lunch hour every day. The closest legal crosswalk is at the Brickyard Road and 
Howard Avenue intersection and adds a significant distance to the walk between A.L. Fortune 
and a nearby eatery.   

Noted that they have counted cars and pedestrians at this crossing at key times. A three-day 
average showed that in the 40 minutes before school, 45 pedestrians crossed Brickyard Road 
at Pleasant Avenue, and 55 vehicles passed on Brickyard Road. During the 40 minutes of 
Lunch, 54 pedestrians crossed, and 47 cars passed on Brickyard Road. During the 40 minutes 
after school, 51 pedestrians crossed and 60 cars passed.  

Mr. Purr and Mr. Freeman concluded that a crosswalk would increase pedestrian safety at this 
crossing.  

DEVELOPMENT MATTERS AND RELATED BYLAWS 

Development Variance Permit #0079-25-DVP-END 

The Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw Compliance gave an overview of the 
application and staff recommendation.  

Three written submissions were received regarding the application and one verbal 
representation was made by a representative of the applicant.  

Ian Wilson, Regional District of North Okanagan 
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- Noted that the property is near the Shuswap North Okanagan Rail Trail lands and that
there is no parking and no depositing of snow permitted on the Rail Trail right of way.

Stacey Larsen and Jeff Aitken, 167 Brickyard Rd, Enderby BC 
- Concerned that a 0m front setback will set a precedent for future development in the

area.
- Opposes the waiver of the requirement to screen the parking area.
- Concerns about the existing fence height and opacity.
- Concerns about the siting of the existing greenhouse.
- Concerns that variances are requested because there is not enough space for the

proposed development on this property.
- Concerns about a gravel parking lot and the lack of ability to properly delineate parking

spaces, as well as debris that will be tracked onto the road.
- Concerns that the existing trees on the property are dangerous and should be removed.
- Concerns about the sewer connection through their property.

Kerry Korberg & Jaedyn Korberg, Applicant 
- Believes that the mature trees on the property are healthy and worthy of preservation.
- Believes that there will be no issue maneuvering around the trees.
- Stated that a gravel parking lot will aid in drainage.
- Stated that future owners could build fences as they wish.
- Believes that the visual impact to the high school property by allowing the reduction in

rear yard setback will be negligible.
- Developer is committed to the concept of detached cottages and believes that these

units will be more saleable than multi-unit buildings.
- Requested that Council allow eaves and other building projections within the 3m building

separations.

Brett Korberg, Representative of the Applicants 
- Does not believe the reduction in rear yard setback will cause any issues as it backs

onto the field of the high school.
- Noted that one of the neighbours does not want a solid fence along their property.
- The proposed parking area would be surfaced with screened and washed gravel. Does

not believe that it would cause any dirt or mud to be tracked onto the road.

Councillor Baird asked about the sewer line that ran through the neighbouring property to the 
proposed development.  

Chief Administrative Officer responded that removal of this line was a condition of subdivision 
and that it has been completed.  

Council discussed that creating duplexes instead of stand-alone units would relieve some of the 
space pressures of this development. Council also noted that there would need to be space for 
snow and a dumpster on site. 

Council also discussed concerns about a gravel parking area and the lack of ability to properly 
delineate parking stalls.  

Councillor Ramey asked what the reasoning is for the recommendation to deny the reduction in 
rear yard setback.  
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The Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw Compliance responded that the 
reduction is significant, and that the developer intends to construct a deck that could extend into 
the setback area as well, making the requested setback as little as 2.65m. The reason that this 
setback reduction is required is because of an inefficient use of land and not because of a 
unique situation that makes development of the lot difficult. 

Moved by Councillor Baird, seconded by Councillor Yerhoff 
THAT Council authorizes the issuance of a Development Variance Permit for the property 
legally described as LOT 2 DISTRICT LOT 150 KAMLOOPS (FORMERLY OSOYOOS) 
DIVISION YALE DISTRICT PLAN 15492, and located at 171 Brickyard Road, Enderby BC., to 
permit variances to the following sections of the City of Enderby Zoning Bylaw No. 1550, 2014: 

• Section 901.2.b by reducing the minimum width of an unobstructed maneuvering aisle
for right-angle parking from 8 m (26.25 feet) to 7.5 m (24.61 feet), as shown on the
attached Schedule ‘A’; and

• Section 901.2.g.i by reducing the minimum setback between a parking space and a
dwelling from 1.5 m (4.921 feet) to 1 m (3.28 feet), as shown on the attached Schedule
‘A’.

AND THAT Council authorizes the issuance of a Development Variance Permit for the property 
legally described as LOT 2 DISTRICT LOT 150 KAMLOOPS (FORMERLY OSOYOOS) 
DIVISION YALE DISTRICT PLAN 15492, and located at 171 Brickyard Road, Enderby BC., to 
permit variances to the following sections of the City of Enderby Zoning Bylaw No. 1550, 2014: 

• Section 901.2.a by increasing the allowable percentage of small-car parking from 40% to
64.35%, as shown on the attached Schedule ‘A’; and

• Section 901.3 by reducing the minimum number of off-street parking spaces from 16 to
14, as shown on the attached Schedule ‘A’,

subject to the property owner satisfying the following conditions: 

i. registering a housing agreement by covenant on the title of the property, satisfactory to
the City, which requires that the parking demands associated with the development are
contained and managed on-site and which shall be a material term of any tenancy
agreement; and

ii. registering a covenant on the title of the property which states that no building strata may
occur until such time as the City has approved internal strata bylaws that ensure that the
parking demands associated with the development are contained and managed on-site.

THAT Council NOT authorize the issuance of a Development Variance Permit for the property 
legally described as LOT 2 DISTRICT LOT 150 KAMLOOPS (FORMERLY OSOYOOS) 
DIVISION YALE DISTRICT PLAN 15492, and located at 171 Brickyard Road, Enderby BC., to 
permit variances to the following sections of the City of Enderby Zoning Bylaw No. 1550, 2014: 

• Section 308.4.a.i by reducing the minimum front yard setback for an accessory
residential structure from 8 m (26.25 feet) to 0 m, as shown on the attached Schedule
‘A’;

• Section 309.1.a.ii by waiving the requirement to screen a multi-family parking area
where it abuts a lot in a residential zone;

Page No. 8 of 104



City of Enderby – Regular Meeting June 2, 2025 

Page 5 of 11 

• Section 604.10.d.ii by reducing the minimum rear yard setback for an adult retirement
housing dwelling from 6 m (19.68) to 4.56 m (14.96 feet) and 3.65 m (11.98 feet),
respectively, as shown on the attached Schedule ‘A’;

• Section 901.2.b by permitting a maneuvering aisle to be partially obstructed, as shown
on the attached Schedule ‘A’; and

• Section 901.2.e by waiving the requirement for an off-street parking area to be surfaced
with asphaltic concrete or cement pavement, with a gravel surface in-lieu, as shown on
the attached Schedule ‘A’.

AND FURTHER THAT Council authorizes the issuance of a Development Variance Permit for 
the property legally described as LOT 2 DISTRICT LOT 150 KAMLOOPS (FORMERLY 
OSOYOOS) DIVISION YALE DISTRICT PLAN 15492, and located at 171 Brickyard Road, 
Enderby BC., to permit a variance to Section 308.4.a.i of the City of Enderby Zoning Bylaw No. 
1550, 2014 by reducing the minimum front yard setback for an accessory residential structure 
from 8 m (26.25 feet) to 0.5 m (1.64 feet), subject to the following conditions: 

• The property owner must agree to the reduced variance request in writing and provide
an updated site plan which reflects the 0.5 m (1.64 foot) setback;

• Any setback calculation shall be inclusive of the foundation, pad, and grounding wire, as
well as the extent of any cut or fill slope required to achieve the desired elevation,
grading, and drainage for the cabinet; and

• The cabinet doors shall be required to open towards the buildings on the subject
property rather than towards the road, so that work may occur inside the cabinet without
interfering with public property;  if this is not achievable due to electrical design or code,
such that the cabinet must face towards the road, the setback calculation must also
include cabinet door swing clearance.

CARRIED 

Removal of Soil (Extraction) and Placement of Fill Within the ALR 

Councillor Davyduke recused because a family member is employed by the applicant and left 
the meeting at 5:31 p.m. 

The Manager of Planning, Community Safety and Bylaw Compliance gave an overview of the 
application and staff recommendation.  

Councillor Ramey asked why the access control plan and restoration of Waterwheel Street are 
relevant to this application.  

Chief Administrative Officer explained that the issues with Waterwheel Street are pre-existing, 
but that this application and subsequent use will increase traffic on Waterwheel Street and 
makes the access control plan and restoration more urgent.  

Mayor Galbraith stated that he would like to provide an opportunity for public input, and asked 
when Council could return to consider this issue if that were the case. 

Chief Administrative Officer responded that this item would most likely come back at the 
meeting of July 21st.  
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Council discussed the difference between permitted farm uses and events. The Agricultural 
Land Commission Act permits events on ALC land and Council can not prohibit them but may 
regulate them. 

Councillor Ramey asked about the request for a reduction in accesses on Waterwheel Street. 

Chief Administrative Officer explained that in most cases a farm would have one access and 
use internal roads to transport equipment around the property. In this case, multiple accesses 
have allowed the transportation of heavy machinery around the property to be done via 
Waterwheel Street, which has impacted the road.  

Moved by Councillor Ramey, seconded by Mayor Galbraith 
THAT Council postpone consideration of the Removal of Soil (Extraction) and Placement of Fill 
Within the ALR Application for 2207 Waterwheel Street, Enderby BC and directs Staff to initiate 
a public notification process, in accordance with Section 6.1.1. of the City of Enderby 
Development Applications Procedures Bylaw No. 1586, 2016, and provides an opportunity at a 
future Council meeting for public input to be received prior to consideration of the application. 

WITHDRAWN 

Councillor Ramey asked the applicant if they are happy with the staff recommendation. 

Colin Matejka, applicant, responded that they can live with the staff recommendation. 

Councillor Ramey asked what the timeline for this project is.  

Mr. Matejka responded that they would like to have the facility built for this winter, and that they 
have been working on it for over a year so far.  

Councillor Ramey withdrew his motion. 

Moved by Councillor Ramey, seconded by Councillor Baird 
THAT Council advances the Removal of Soil (Extraction) and Placement of Fill Within the ALR 
Application for 2207 Waterwheel Street, Enderby BC to the Agricultural Land Commission for 
consideration, subject to the following conditions: 

i. The applicant shall provide an access control plan for the 2207 Waterwheel Street
(including the abutting property to the north – PID: 023-256-583), acceptable to the City
of Enderby, which significantly reduces the number of accesses for agricultural vehicles,
with the access(es) to be properly constructed for the current and proposed uses and
not substantially or unreasonably interfere with other public uses of the road;

ii. The applicant shall provide a road restoration plan for the portion of Waterwheel Street
adjacent to 2207 Waterwheel Street (including the abutting property to the north - PID:
023-256-583), acceptable to the City of Enderby, which restores those portions of
Waterwheel Street impacted by the current agricultural uses to a standard capable of
accommodating normal traffic loads after the implementation of the access control plan
referenced above;

iii. The applicant shall enter into a Works and Services Agreement with the City of Enderby
to implement the access control plan and road restoration plan following substantial
completion of the proposed building(s); and

Page No. 10 of 104



City of Enderby – Regular Meeting June 2, 2025 

Page 7 of 11 

iv. The applicant shall demonstrate that the current and proposed farm operation at 2207
Waterwheel Street (including the abutting property to the north - PID: 023-256-583) is in
accordance with the City of Enderby Zoning Bylaw No. 1550, 2014.

AND THAT should the applicant satisfy the above conditions and the Removal of Soil 
(Extraction) and Placement of Fill Within the ALR Application for 2207 Waterwheel Street, 
Enderby BC is advanced to the ALC for consideration, the City provides the following comments 
to the ALC: 

The City of Enderby defers to the expertise of the ALC in considering whether the 
proposal is consistent with the ALC’s Necessary Farm Use Structures in the ALR 
Guidelines.   

The applicant has provided the City of Enderby and the ALC with correspondence 
confirming that no bull riding or bull riding events will occur within the proposed equine 
and bovine training and genetics facility. It is the City’s understanding that bull riding and 
bull riding events would be considered non-farm uses, therefore should the applicant 
wish to pursue bull riding as an on-going use on the property in the future, they would be 
required to submit a Non-Farm Use Application to the ALC and City of Enderby.  With 
respect to bull riding events, given that local governments do not have the authority to 
prohibit events on ALR lands, the City strongly encourages the ALC to use its authority 
to prohibit bull riding events from occurring within the proposed facility in order to ensure 
that the commitments made by the applicant in their written correspondence to the City 
and the ALC are upheld. 

CARRIED 

Councillor Davyduke returned to the meeting at 6:03 p.m. 

REPORTS 

Mayor and Council Reports 

Councillor Davyduke 

There is an Interagency meeting coming up at the end of June. This will be the last meeting 
before the summer break. 

Reported that WorkBC has been busy with people looking for employment. 

The Enderby & District Chamber of Commerce Women in Business Golf Tournament is 
upcoming and Councillors Baird and Yerhoff will be representing Council. 

Reported that the new paint and carpet at the library looks great. 

Attended the Annual Plant Share. There were over 100 people in attendance at this event. 

Spoke with the Public Health Nurse and reported that attendance has been down at the Baby 
Talk program. 

Councillor Yerhoff 
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Attended the Plant Share. 

Reported that it’s been nice to see so many people out and about downtown. 

Will be attending the Enderby & District Chamber of Commerce Women in Business Golf 
Tournament along with Councillor Baird.  

Moved by Councillor Yerhoff, seconded by Councillor Baird 
THAT Council funds the registration fees for the Enderby & District Chamber of Commerce 
Women in Business Golf Tournament for Councillor Baird and Councillor Yerhoff from Council 
sundry. 

CARRIED 

Councillor Ramey 

Attended an Okanagan Regional Library meeting. Reported that the Summer Reading Club has 
many participants registered this year. There are Book Club Kits and many other items that can 
be borrowed from the library. Encouraged everyone to get a library card. 

Has received requests from the public for the City to purchase St. Andrews United Church. 

Councillor Ramey noted that the Rail Trail is now open to Back Enderby Road and that people 
are using it as a loop along with Old Vernon Road. Asked if the white line on Old Vernon Road 
for pedestrians could be extended.  

Reported that Cardiff Miller Art Warehouse has two new displays and suggested that he would 
like to revisit finding a way to allow them to advertise on the highway when they are open.  

Noted that he has received compliments on our ball diamonds from people from Kelowna. 

Councillor Baird 

Reported that on a trip to Vancouver she met someone who has visited Enderby to visit Cardiff 
Miller Art Warehouse.  

Reported that aquafit at the pool has been busy. 

There is a meeting coming up of the Public Art Select Committee to review applicants for the 
public art sculpture program.  

Reported that the Farmers Market and the Harvest Hut have been busy. 

Mayor Galbraith 

Thanked Councillor Baird for filling in for him at the previous Council meeting.  

Will be filling in for Councillor Schreiner at the RDNO board meeting this week. 

Chief Administrative Officer 
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Construction of the lower reservoir is progressing. The first of three wall pours was done on 
Friday, May 30th. The second wall pour will occur in approximately 2 weeks. 

Granville Avenue construction is scheduled to start around June 16th. The contractor may start 
milling a few days ahead of that. As a change to what was previously reported, the Red Cross 
Loan Cupboard will now be fully inside the Water Treatment Plant and will not be using the 
Visitor Centre during the Granville construction. 

Pool construction has begun. Right now, the focus is on excavation and getting temporary 
power installed. Public Works removed the trees at the north end of the park last week; one of 
which was salvageable has been replanted along the Riverwalk at its south end. The soil that is 
being excavated is of good quality for fill material, so rather than dispose of it, it will be hauled to 
various areas around Riverside Park that need some levelling, which will make those areas 
more useful for the general public and easier to maintain in the future. 

The new Parks employee, Dale Almaas, has been hired. Welcomed Dale to the team. 

The new digital sign is now installed at the arena. The contractor will soon complete the 
installation of the internet connection inside the arena, at which point the display portion will be 
active. For now, only the topper cabinet with the facility name is active. 

Offsite works at 506 Cliff Avenue are substantially complete other than reinstating curb and line 
painting. The works at 247 Brickyard Road started on Friday. There will be single-lane 
alternating traffic flow adjacent to the Brickyard work site, which is just north of Danforth 
Avenue. 

The grounds contractor will be mowing the highway ditch on Wednesday. Has requested them 
to increase their mowing frequency during the early part of the season. This is a challenging 
maintenance area due to the amount of drainage and traffic. 

The City’s small paving contractor is expected to be coming through shortly. 

Congratulated Kurt Inglis, who has recently obtained his Wildfire Mitigation Specialist 
designation, which will help with FireSmart initiatives. 

Councillor Yerhoff noted that the garbage receptacles on the Rail Trail have been overflowing 
and asked who is responsible for them. 

Chief Administrative Officer responded that the Regional District of North Okanagan is 
responsible for maintenance. He asked Council to advise him when the issue occurs so that it 
can be reported to RDNO.  

Councillor Ramey asked if there is any update on how the new doctor in Enderby is doing. 

Mayor Galbraith responded that he checks in regularly with the clinic and the lab and that they 
are doing well. Reported that one of the doctors is open to taking on medical students from 
UBC. 

NEW BUSINESS 

UBCM 2025 Provincial Meeting Requests and Attendance 
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Council discussed some possible topics for meetings at UBCM including housing, highways, 
healthcare, indigenous partnerships, the Salmon Arm bus route from Enderby, and plans for 
handling an increasing number of students at M.V. Beattie Elementary.  

Council requested that Mayor Galbraith consult with Kupki7 Christian about who from Splatsin 
will be attending UBCM and if there are meetings that the City of Enderby and Splatsin can 
attend together. 

Moved by Councillor Baird, seconded by Councillor Davyduke 
THAT Council postpones consideration of UBCM 2025 Provincial Meeting Requests and 
Attendance to the meeting of June 16, 2025 

CARRIED 

Feedback to Province on Proposed Changes to Closed Council and Board Meetings 

Moved by Councillor Baird, seconded by Councillor Ramey 
THAT Council supports the Province’s proposed amendments to section 90 of the Community 
Charter which: 

• Allow a Council meeting to be closed to prevent harm to an Indigenous people’s ability to
maintain, control, protect, or develop cultural heritage, traditional knowledge, traditional
cultural expressions, or manifestations of their sciences, technologies, and cultures; and

• Require a Council meeting to be closed when it relates to the consideration of
information received and held in confidence relating to negotiations between the local
government and an Indigenous government, on the same basis as is the case for
negotiations between local governments and provincial and federal levels of
government.

AND THAT Council directs staff to send correspondence to the Ministry of Housing and 
Municipal Affairs indicating its support for the proposed amendments to section 90 of the 
Community Charter. 

CARRIED 

Revised Floodplain Maps and Forthcoming Provincial Floodplain Development Guidelines 

Moved by Councillor Baird, seconded by Councillor Ramey 
THAT Council defers consideration of the revised floodplain maps provided by Fraser Basin 
Council until the modernized Provincial Floodplain Development Guidelines are adopted by the 
Province; 

AND THAT Council requests that the Province ensure that the modernized Provincial Floodplain 
Development Guidelines provide practical solutions to support the reasonable and responsible 
implementation of the revised floodplain maps by local government; 

AND FURTHER THAT Council requests that the Province delay publicly posting the revised 
floodplain maps for the City of Enderby until the modernized Provincial Floodplain Development 
Guidelines are adopted by the Province and the City of Enderby has had reasonable time to 
evaluate the revised floodplain maps in conjunction with the modernized guidelines. 

CARRIED 
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Temporary Road Closure Application – Canada Day Parade 2025 

Moved by Councillor Ramey, seconded by Councillor Baird 
THAT Council receives the City of Enderby Event Coordinator’s Temporary Road Closure 
application (Canada Day Parade 2025) for information. 

CARRIED 

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Councillor Baird, seconded by Councillor Yerhoff 
THAT the regular meeting of June 2, 2025 adjourn at 6:43 p.m. 

CARRIED 

_______________________________ _______________________________ 
MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER 

Page No. 15 of 104



Page No. 16 of 104



Page No. 17 of 104



Page No. 18 of 104



Page No. 19 of 104



Page No. 20 of 104



Page No. 21 of 104



Page No. 22 of 104



Page No. 23 of 104



Page No. 24 of 104



Page No. 25 of 104



Page No. 26 of 104



Page No. 27 of 104



Page No. 28 of 104



Page No. 29 of 104



Page No. 30 of 104



Page No. 31 of 104



Page No. 32 of 104



Page No. 33 of 104



Page No. 34 of 104



Page No. 35 of 104



CITY OF ENDERBY 
2024 ANNUAL REPORT 

Published by the Corporation of the City of Enderby 
in accordance with Part 4, Division 5 of the Community Charter 

MISSION STATEMENT 
OUR MISSION IS TO DELIVER HIGH QUALITY AND AFFORDABLE SERVICES TO ENHANCE A 

HEALTHY AND SUSTAINABLE, INCLUSIVE COMMUNITY FOR TODAY AND TOMORROW. 
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City of Enderby 
2024 Annual Report 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 The 2024 Audited Financial Statements were presented and approved by Council on April

22, 2025 and are included at the end of this Annual Report.

PERMISSIVE PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTIONS 
 The following properties in the City of Enderby were provided permissive tax exemptions by

Council in 2024. The dollar value to the right indicates the amount of property taxes that
would have been imposed on the property in that year, had it not been granted a permissive
property tax exemption.

Name Civic Address Amount 
($) 

Turning Points Collaborative Society (Pioneer Place) 1104 Belvedere Street 11,756 
Enderby & District Senior Citizen's Complex 606 Stanley Avenue 2,268 
Enderby & District Senior Citizen's Complex 1011 George Street 3,613 
Enderby Seniors Housing Society (Phase 2) 708 Granville Avenue 15,202 

Enderby Fraternal Hall Society 507 Mill Avenue 1,443 
Royal Canadian Legion Branch # 98 909 Belvedere Street 1,678 

St. Andrew’s United Church 606 Regent Avenue 1,204 
St. Andrew’s United Church 1110 Belvedere Street 768 
Enderby Evangelical Chapel 706 Mill Avenue 997 

Synod Diocese Kootenay (St. George Anglican Church) 602 Knight Avenue 1,239 
Synod Diocese Kootenay (St. George Anglican Church) 608 Knight Avenue 727 

Enderby Congregation of Jehovah’s Witnesses 115 George Street 4,146 
Roman Catholic Bishop of Kamloops 1406 George Street 1,585 

Seventh-Day Adventist Church 703 Old Vernon Street 2,799 
Imperial Oil Ltd. (City Hall parking lot) 907 George Street 2,950 

City of Enderby (Enderby Drill Hall Committee) 208 George Street 3,511 
City of Enderby (Enderby Drill Hall Committee) 206 George Street 1,180 
City of Enderby (Enderby Drill Hall Committee) 204 George Street 1,914 

City of Enderby (Enderby & District Museum Society) 903 George Street 6,388 
Total Tax Exemptions provided for 2024 $65,368 
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REPORT ON SERVICES AND OPERATIONS IN 2024 

Administration and Governance 
 Continued to build dialogue and foster opportunities for cooperation and collaboration with

neighbouring and regional partners.
 Hosted a “coffee with Mayor & Council” event.
 Participated in the regional accessibility committee.
 Staff participated in indigenous cultural safety and cultural humility training.

Economic 
 Continued to offer case managed planning services for development.
 Continued to offer perpetual business licenses to cut red tape for businesses.
 Continued to provide office space in City Hall for Community Futures small business

advisors.
 Completed and promoted a community marketing video.
 Conducted a Business Walk to engage local businesses.

Emergency Management and Community Safety 
 Continued to enhance relationships with neighbouring jurisdictions involved in emergency

management.
 Purchased a new pumper/rescue truck for the Fire Department.
 Purchased a new command/utility truck for the Fire Department.
 Tested the emergency siren at the Fire Hall and developed protocols for future use.
 Continued to participate in inter-agency meetings of community support and social service

groups.
 Initiated the development of a Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan.
 Participated in the North Okanagan Community FireSmart and Resiliency Committee.
 Continued to implement a local FireSmart program, which included hosting FireSmart

events and fostering education and awareness of FireSmart principles.
 Initiated the implementation of the indigenous engagement requirements within the

Emergency and Disaster Management Act.
 Purchased and deployed traffic calming equipment including a radar unit for the collection

of traffic data and a radar speed sign for deployment in critical areas, including school zones.
 Continued to work with the RCMP to sustain and enhance a safe community.

Environment 
 Continued to reduce emissions by operating a biomass heating system at the City's public

works yard, which services the public works shop, sewer treatment plant, and dog pound,
and participating in a biomass district heating system for the Enderby Pool.

Page No. 38 of 104



3 

 Hosted the annual Our Enderby Cleanup Challenge.
 Implemented a water conservation and drought management framework.
 Continued to provide the curbside spring pruning and garden waste collection program.

Infrastructure and Asset Management 
 Completed reconstruction of the 700 block of Russell Avenue.
 Planned for the reconstruction of Reservoir #1.
 Continued to invest 1% new taxation in asset management.
 Completed a review, verification and update to the City of Enderby’s asset inventory.
 Updated the City’s Geographic Information System and deployed to Public Works

workstations.
 Continued concept design work for expansion of the water treatment plant and water

distribution system.

Recreation, Events, and Public Spaces 
 Completed the design and construction documents for the new pool.
 Restored the refrigeration system at the Enderby & District Sports Complex to operating

condition.
 Completed the distribution of Community Better Challenge funds to various recreation

opportunities in the community.
 Provided support to the Shuswap River Ambassadors.
 Expanded the cremation garden at the cemetery.
 Provided an annual grant for the Shuswap Trails Roundtable.
 Completed the renewal of street banners in various locations in the City.
 Continued the operational agreement with Shuswap Trail Alliance for trail planning and

development services.
 Sponsored the Garden Club’s installation of a feature sign at Cornerstone Garden.
 Established a Public Art Select Committee to review existing public art within the

community, and identify opportunities for new, improved or changed public art.
 Installed stone planters at Veterans Park.

Social Health, Food Security, and Housing 
 Continued to recognize community volunteers.
 Continued to provide space to the Harvest Hut in the Maud Street parking lot.
 Continued to provide space on Cliff Avenue to support the Enderby Farmers Market.
 Updated the Zoning Bylaw to permit small-scale, multi-unit housing in single-family/two-

family zoning designations, consistent with provincial legislation.
 Updated the Housing Needs Assessment Report consistent with provincial legislation.
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DECLARATION OF DISQUALIFIED COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 None. 

DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES 
  Balance  

Dec 31/23 
Received in 

2024 
Interest 

Earned in 
2024 

Expended / 
Credited in 

2024 

Balance 
 Dec 31/24 

 Sewer  273,089 7,722   13,992 0 294,803    
 Water  522,353 7,220   26,609 0 556,182 

 Storm Sewer  2,878       0 146 0 3,024 
 Roads/Curbs  217,821       0   11,035 0 228,856 

 Total  1,016,141 14,942 51,782 0 1,082,865 

OFF-STREET PARKING RESERVE FUND 
 There are no funds in this reserve. 

OBJECTIVES AND PROGRESS MEASURES FOR 2025 

Administration and Governance 
 Continue to build dialogue and foster opportunities for cooperation and collaboration with 

neighbouring and regional partners. 
 Host “coffee with Mayor & Council” events. 
 Participate in the regional accessibility committee. 

Economic 
 Continue to offer case managed planning services for development. 
 Continue to offer perpetual business licenses to cut red tape for businesses. 
 Continue to provide office space in City Hall for Community Futures small business advisors. 
 Support Community Futures North Okanagan with the Rail Trail business readiness 

initiative. 
 Hold another Business Walk to engage with local businesses. 

Emergency Management and Community Safety 
 Continue to enhance relationships with neighbouring jurisdictions involved in emergency 

management. 
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 Install backup power for the Fire Hall. 
 Install new gear racking in the Fire Hall. 
 Continue to participate in inter-agency meetings of community support and social service 

groups. 
 Finalize the Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan. 
 Continue to participate in the North Okanagan Community FireSmart and Resiliency 

Committee. 
 Continue to implement a local FireSmart program and bolster the program by applying for 

funding through the FireSmart Community Funding and Supports grant program.  
 Continue to implement the indigenous engagement requirements within the Emergency 

and Disaster Management Act. 
 Continue to work with the RCMP to sustain and enhance a safe community. 
 Purchase additional equipment and supplies for the City’s primary Emergency Operations 

Centre in order to strengthen the resiliency of the facility.  

Environment 
 Continue to reduce emissions by operating a biomass heating system at the City's public 

works yard, which services the public works shop, sewer treatment plant, and dog pound, 
and participating in a biomass district heating system for the Enderby Pool. 

 Host the annual Our Enderby Cleanup Challenge. 
 Continue to provide the curbside spring pruning and garden waste collection program.  

Infrastructure and Asset Management 
 Reconstruct Granville Avenue, west of George Street. 
 Reconstruct Reservoir #1. 
 Continue to invest 1% new taxation in asset management. 
 Complete concept design work and develop a financial strategy to support the expansion of 

the water treatment plant. 
 Complete design work for the renewal of King Avenue between Vernon Street and George 

Street. 
 Commence design work for the reconstruction of Brickyard Road north of Danforth Avenue. 

Recreation, Events, and Public Spaces 
 Commence construction on the new outdoor pool. 
 Provide support to the Shuswap River Ambassadors. 
 Provide annual grant for the Shuswap Trails Roundtable. 
 Plant new trees at Barnes Park, Riverside Park, and Cliff Avenue. 
 Replace the dugout roofs at Diamond 1 and Diamond 2 at Riverside Park. 
 Purchase a new digital sign for the John Pritchard Memorial Sports Complex. 
 Complete the construction of a pedestrian walkway along the unpaved portion of 

Waterwheel Street in order to improve pedestrian safety.  
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 Implement the City of Enderby Public Art Sculpture Program.  
 Continue the operational agreement with Shuswap Trail Alliance for trail planning and 

development services. 

Social Health, Food Security, and Housing 
 Continue to recognize community volunteers. 
 Continue to provide space to the Harvest Hut in the Maud Street parking lot. 
 Continue to provide space on Cliff Avenue to support the Enderby Farmers Market. 
 Complete updates to the Zoning Bylaw and Official Community Plan to align with the 

Housing Needs Report, consistent with provincial housing legislation.  
 Install a water connection in the Mill Avenue road dedication in support of a future 

community garden. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

These financial statements and accompanying schedules of the City of Enderby are the responsibility of
management and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local
governments as established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada. 

Management is responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls that are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded, and
reliable financial information is available on a timely basis for preparation of the financial statements. These
systems are regularly monitored and evaluated by management.

These financial statements have been audited by BDO Canada LLP, independent external auditors appointed by
the City of Enderby. The following Independent Auditor’s Report describes their responsibilities, scope of
examination and opinion on the City's financial statements. The auditors have full and free access to the accounting
records and Council.

Chief Financial Officer
April 22, 2025

Docusign Envelope ID: 68C2FDF3-9E9D-4D74-8C58-D96250FF7BCA
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Tel:  250 545 2136
Fax:  250 545 3364
www.bdo.ca

BDO Canada LLP
2706 – 30th Avenue
Suite 202
Vernon BC  V1T 2B6  Canada

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Mayor and Council of the Corporation of the City of Enderby

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Corporation of the City of Enderby (the City), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the statements of
operations, change in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the City as at December 31, 2024, and the statements of operations, change in
net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Unaudited Information

We have not audited, reviewed or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
information included in Schedule II - Enderby/Area F Services of the City''s financial statements. Our
audit report is not modified in respect of this.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process. 

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK District limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international 
BDO network of independent member firms. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to
cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vernon, British Columbia
April 23, 2025
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY

Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Financial assets
Cash $ 3,442,874 $ 4,284,427
Portfolio investments (Note 3) 11,814,347 9,412,016
Accounts receivable  (Note 4) 1,533,211 1,098,424
Deposit - Municipal Finance Authority (Note 5) 39,080 37,765

16,829,512 14,832,632

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 718,359 510,053
Deferred revenue (Note 7) 2,577,335 2,234,307
Reserve - Municipal Finance Authority (Note 5) 39,080 37,765
Long-term debt (Note 8) 1,911,248 2,037,132
Asset retirement obligations (Note 9) 1,317,848 1,062,656

6,563,870 5,881,913

Net financial assets 10,265,642 8,950,719

Non-financial assets

Prepaid expenses 80,375 95,764
Tangible capital assets  (Note 10) 34,797,559 31,054,563

Accumulated surplus (Note 11) $ 45,143,576 $ 40,101,046

Contingent Liabilities (Note 13)

Chief Financial Officer   
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2024

2024 2024 2023
Budget Actual Actual

(Note 19)
Revenue

Taxation - net  (Note 14) $ 2,776,200 $ 2,742,880 $ 2,558,390
Grants and subsidies (Note 15) 5,117,920 2,708,278 3,323,472
Sale of services (Note 16) 2,426,263 2,605,841 2,213,943
Other revenue from own sources 104,780 114,627 200,377
Interest and penalties 521,900 704,305 548,643
Developer contributions - 2,125,862 -

10,947,063 11,001,793 8,844,825

Expenses (Note 17)

General government services 1,371,299 1,030,104 921,045
Protective services 624,100 362,641 379,515
Transportation services 723,119 1,003,129 958,087
Solid waste services 122,000 118,239 115,751
Community development services 53,700 26,352 30,887
Recreational and cultural services 204,600 127,828 107,173
Riverside RV Park & tourism services 299,400 255,537 242,668
Enderby / Area F services 1,077,740 1,100,351 1,033,728
Water supply 744,910 1,167,592 914,479
Sewer services 680,828 758,544 789,248

5,901,696 5,950,317 5,492,581

Excess revenue over expenses 5,045,367 5,051,476 3,352,244
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (8,946) (15,131)

Annual surplus $ 5,045,367 $ 5,042,530 $ 3,337,113

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 40,101,046 40,101,046 36,763,933

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 45,146,413 $ 45,143,576 $ 40,101,046
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Annual surplus $ 5,042,530 $ 3,337,113

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,308,668 1,312,955

Change in prepaid expenses 15,389 (22,144)

Increase in tangible capital assets due to asset retirement obligations - (1,018,807)

Disposal of tangible capital assets 27,326 15,131

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (5,078,990) (695,582)

Increase in net financial assets 1,314,923 2,928,666

Net financial assets, beginning of year 8,950,719 6,022,053

Net financial assets, end of year $ 10,265,642 $ 8,950,719
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash received from:
Taxation $ 2,776,696 $ 2,479,476
Grants and subsidies 2,866,329 3,587,647
Sale of services and other revenues 2,436,842 2,931,288
Interest received 704,305 548,643

Cash paid for:
Cash payments to suppliers and employees (3,994,738) (3,931,766)
Interest paid (168,021) (151,387)

4,621,413 5,463,901

Financing activities

Debt repayment (125,887) (119,208)

Capital activities

Purchase of tangible capital assets (2,953,129) (695,582)
Proceeds on disposition of tangible capital assets 18,381

Investing activities

Increase (decrease) in portfolio investments (2,402,331) (695,290)

Increase (decrease) in cash (841,553) 3,953,821

Cash, beginning of year 4,284,427 330,606

Cash, end of year $ 3,442,874 $ 4,284,427

9
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For the year ended December 31, 2024

1.  Status of the City of Enderby

The City of Enderby ("the City") is a municipality that was created on March 1, 1905 under the laws of British Columbia.
The City provides municipal services such as public works, sewer, water, urban planning, fire protection services, and
recreational and cultural services and other general government operations.

2.  Significant Accounting Policies

a.  Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for governments established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. The financial statements include the accounts of all funds of the City. All interfund transfers
have been eliminated.  The significant policies are summarized as follows:

b.  School Taxes

The City is required by The School Act to bill, collect, and remit provincial education support levies for properties on
behalf of the Province, and school division special levies on behalf of school divisions. The City has no jurisdiction or
control over the school division's operations or their mill rate increases. Therefore, the taxation, other revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations of school boards are not reflected in these financial
statements.

c.  Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments consist of term deposits in Canadian Chartered Banks and Canaccord Genuity, and deposits with
the Municipal Finance Authority pooled investment money market fund and are recorded at cost plus earnings reinvested
in the funds, which approximates their quoted market value. These investments have an effective average interest rate of
4.9% (2023 - 4.9%).

d.  Deferred Revenue

Grants, contributions and other amounts are received from third parties pursuant to legislation, regulation or agreement
and may only be used in the conduct of certain programs, in the completion of specific work, or for the purchase of
tangible capital assets.  In addition, certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to
be performed. Revenue is recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred, services performed or
tangible capital assets are acquired or constructed.

e.  Financial Instruments

Financial instruments include cash, portfolio investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, deferred revenue,
deposits and long-term debt. 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition. Equity instruments that are quoted in an active
market are subsequently measured at fair value. All other financial instruments are subsequently measured at cost or
amortized cost. The carrying amount of each of these financial instruments is presented on the statement of financial
position.

Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the
statement of operations. There are no unrealized changes in fair value as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
As a result, the City does not have a statement of remeasurement gains and losses. 

When investment income and realized and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial
instruments are externally restricted, the investment income and fair value changes are recognized as revenue in the

10
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For the year ended December 31, 2024 

period in which the resources are used for the purpose specified.

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to determine interest
revenue or expense.

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When a decline is determined to be other than temporary, the
amount of the loss is reported in the statement of operations.

Transaction costs are added to the carrying value for financial instruments measured using cost or amortized cost.
Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value. 

f. Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services.
They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of
operations. The change in non-financial assets during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses
provides the Change in Net Financial Assets for the year.

i. Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, development or betterment of the asset. The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the
acquisition or construction of a tangible capital asset. The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets are
amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings 20 to 50 years
Engineering structures 15 to 65 years
Machinery and equipment 6 to 30 years
Hydrants 40 years
Planters 15 to 25 years
Roads 15 to 75 years
Storm system 25 to 80 years
Water mains 50 to 80 years
Water system 15 to 50 years
Sanitary sewer system  5 to 30 years
Sewer mains and lift stations 30 to 80 years

Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use.

ii. Contributions of tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and also are
recorded as revenue.

iii. Leases
Leases are classified as capital or operating leases.  Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks
incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as capital leases.  All other leases are accounted for as operating
leases and the related lease payments are charged to expenses as incurred.

g. Asset Retirement Obligations

An asset retirement obligation is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date, all of the following criteria are met:

1. There is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset;

2. The past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred;

3. It is expected  that future economic benefits will be given up; and
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4. A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

Asset retirement obligations are initially measured at the best estimate of the amount required to retire a tangible capital
asset at the financial statement date, which is amortized in accordance with the significant accounting policies.

Asset retirement obligations are recorded as liabilities with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related
tangible capital asset. Subsequently, the asset retirement costs are allocated to expenses over the useful life of the asset.
The obligation is adjusted annually for accretion to reflect period-to-period changes in the liability resulting from the
passage of time and for revisions to either timing or the amount of the original estimate of the undiscounted cash flows or
the discount rate. 

h.  Revenue Recognition

Taxation is recognized as revenue in the year it is levied. Sale of services and user fees are recognized when the service
or product is provided by the City. Interest and penalties and all other revenue is recognized as it is earned and when it is
measurable.

Government grants and transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenue in the period in which events
giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and
reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. Transfers received for expenditures not yet incurred are included in
deferred revenue.

i.  Debt Charges

Debt charges, including principal, interest and foreign exchange are charged to current operations.  Interest charges are
accrued for the period from the date of the latest interest payment to the end of the year. 

j.  Reserves

Reserves for future expenditures are included in accumulated surplus and represent amounts set aside for future operating
and capital expenditures.

k.  Retirement Benefits

The City participates in a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan, however, sufficient information is not available to
use defined benefit accounting. Therefore, the City accounts for the plan as if it were a defined contribution plan. As
such, no pension liability is included in the City's financial statements and contributions are recognized as an expense in
the year to which they relate. All full-time employees are eligible to participate in the plan. Contributions are defined
amounts based upon a set percentage of salary.

Employees are entitled to sick leave benefits, accrued monthly, to a maximum of 120 days. Sick leave benefits are not
paid out at retirement and can only be taken during the term of employment.

l.  Liability for Contaminated Sites

A contaminated site is a site at which substances occur in concentrations that exceed maximum acceptable amounts under
an environmental standard. Sites that are currently in productive use are only considered a contaminated site if an
unexpected event results in contamination. A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when the City
is directly responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up and a
reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. The liability includes all costs directly attributable to remediation
activities including post remediation operations, maintenance and monitoring. The liability is recorded net of any
expected recoveries.

m.  Government Transfers

When the City is the recipient, government transfers are recognized as revenue in the financial statements when the
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transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an
obligation that meets the definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations
give rise to a liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are
settled.

n. Budget Figures

The budget figures are from the Financial Plan Bylaw No. 1788, 2024 adopted May 6, 2024. They have been reallocated
to conform to PSAB financial statement presentation. Subsequent amendments, if any, have been made by Council to
reflect changes in the budget as required by law.

o. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the City have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board. As such, management is required
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
These estimates and assumptions are based on the City's best information and judgment and may differ significantly
from actual results.  The financial statements have, in the opinion of management, been prepared using careful judgment
within the reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the accounting policies identified.

13
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3. Portfolio Investments
2024 2023

Municipal Finance Authority - Money market fund $ 724,377 $ 707,407
Credit Union - Term deposits 4,686,771 3,579,115
Canaccord Genuity - Term deposits 6,403,199 5,125,494

$ 11,814,347 $ 9,412,016

The term deposits mature between February 3, 2025 and November 16, 2026 with interest rates varying from 3.8% to 5.7%.

4. Accounts Receivable
2024 2023

Federal Government $ 51,341 $ 25,005
Trade receivables 1,285,958 853,631
Taxes receivable - current 168,765 188,769

arrears 27,147 31,019

$ 1,533,211 $ 1,098,424

5. Reserve - Municipal Finance Authority

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority. As a condition of these borrowings, a portion
of the debenture proceeds are withheld by the Municipal Finance Authority as a debt reserve fund.  The City also executes
demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the Municipal
Finance Authority. These demand notes are contingent in nature and are not reflected in the accounts. The details of the
cash deposits and demand notes at the year end are as follows:

Demand note Cash deposits 2024 2023

General fund $ 57,010 $ 39,080 $ 96,090 $ 94,775

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2024 2023

Trade payables $ 490,476 $ 289,388
Wages payable 227,883 220,665

$ 718,359 $ 510,053
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7.   Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists primarily of Development Cost Charges (DCCs), refundable deposits for building permits,
conditional grants and prepaid revenues. DCCs are restricted by bylaw in their use for road, drainage, sewer and water
expenses and the revenue is deferred until expenses are incurred. Refundable deposits include security deposits and building
inspection surcharges that are refundable to the applicant if all conditions of the building permit are completed within 24
months of issuance. Conditional grants are recognized as revenue when all criteria have been met. Prepaid revenues are
recognized in the year that the associated fee is levied.

December 31,
2023

Inflows Outflows Interest December 31,
2024

Development cost charges $ 1,016,141 $ 14,942 $ - $ 51,782 $ 1,082,865
Refundable deposits 712,266 253,074 (326,159) 37,543 676,724
Conditional grants 196,036 391,837 (58,825) - 529,048
Prepaid revenues 309,864 253,894 (283,830) 8,770 288,698

$ 2,234,307 $ 913,747 $ (668,814) $ 98,095 $ 2,577,335

8.  Long-Term Debt

Bylaw
number Purpose

Term
remaining % Rate 2024 2023

General fund
1590 Road upgrades 12 2.10 $ 312,454 $ 333,828
1544 Road upgrades 11 2.20 285,012 305,965
1525 Road upgrades 10 4.52 186,206 201,119
1494 Storm system upgrade 19 4.52 644,418 668,040
1502 Road upgrades 9 4.52 371,240 405,833
1503 Road upgrades 9 4.52 111,918 122,347

1,911,248 2,037,132

The municipality is committed to principal requirements, including sinking fund additions, over the next 5 years and
thereafter as follows:

General fund

2025 $ 130,624
2026 135,085
2027 139,700
2028 144,473
2029 149,409
2030 and subsequent periods 1,211,957

$ 1,911,248
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9. Asset Retirement Obligations

The City's asset retirement obligation consists of several obligations as follows:

a) Asbestos obligations

The City owns and operates several buildings and structures that are known to have asbestos, which represents a health
hazard upon demolition or renovation of the assets. There is a legal obligation to remove and dispose of the hazardous
materials and as such, the liability for asbestos removal has been recognized under PS280 - Asset Retirement
Obligations. The assets have estimated remaining useful lives ranging from 10 to 40 years.

b) Lease obligations

The City holds several long-term lease properties, which there is a legal obligation to remove improvements on the
property upon the termination of the lease and as such, the liability for the costs of removal have been recognized under
PS280 - Asset Retirement Obligations. The assets have estimated remaining useful lives ranging from 14 to 78 years.

Estimated future cash flows totaling $3,894,453 have been discounted using a present value calculation with a discount rate
of 4.4% to provide an estimate of the City's current asset retirement obligation.  No recoveries on the obligations are
expected at this time.

December 31,
2023

Accretion December 31,
2024

Asbestos obligations $ 260,948 $ 76,720 $ 337,668
Lease obligations 801,708 178,472 980,180

$ 1,062,656 $ 255,192 $ 1,317,848
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10. Tangible Capital Assets

Historical Cost Accumulated Amortization

2024
Opening Additions Additions

due to ARO
Disposals Closing Opening Additions Disposal Closing Net Book

Value

General fund
Land $ 1,648,517 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,648,517 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1,648,517
Building sites and parks 2,953,287 81,585 - - 3,034,872 1,999,925 87,549 - 2,087,474 947,398
Engineering structures 1,039,037 18,001 - - 1,057,038 396,939 38,905 - 435,844 621,194
Furniture and equipment 325,767 144,998 - 6,827 463,938 242,976 28,123 6,826 264,273 199,665
Hydrants 186,643 - - - 186,643 160,181 2,460 - 162,641 24,002
Machinery and equipment 2,519,032 869,053 - 239,131 3,148,954 1,824,884 96,058 217,714 1,703,228 1,445,726
Planters 118,329 - - - 118,329 111,037 1,215 - 112,252 6,077
Roads 18,060,670 1,777,877 - 36,273 19,802,274 8,247,359 436,734 33,656 8,650,437 11,151,837
Storm system 9,788,303 784,884 - 49,575 10,523,612 4,475,000 108,509 49,575 4,533,934 5,989,678
Assets under construction 511,397 687,863 - 389,584 809,676 - - - - 809,676

37,150,982 4,364,261 - 721,390 40,793,853 17,458,301 799,553 307,771 17,950,083 22,843,770

Water fund
Buildings 1,132,931 - - - 1,132,931 750,030 33,049 - 783,079 349,852
Water mains 12,119,040 488,694 - 34,704 12,573,030 6,908,257 188,091 34,704 7,061,644 5,511,386
Water system 4,132,248 - - - 4,132,248 3,189,930 64,936 - 3,254,866 877,382
Assets under construction 96,208 123,078 - - 219,286 - - - - 219,286

17,480,427 611,772 - 34,704 18,057,495 10,848,217 286,076 34,704 11,099,589 6,957,906

Sewer fund
Buildings 133,966 - - - 133,966 66,985 3,349 - 70,334 63,632
Sanitary sewer system 4,919,328 - - - 4,919,328 3,135,614 137,157 - 3,272,771 1,646,557
Sewer mains and lift stations 5,847,714 492,543 - 9,081 6,331,176 2,984,111 82,534 5,789 3,060,856 3,270,320
Assets under construction 15,374 - - - 15,374 - - - - 15,374

10,916,382 492,543 - 9,081 11,399,844 6,186,710 223,040 5,789 6,403,961 4,995,883

$ 65,547,791 $ 5,468,576 $ - $ 765,175 $ 70,251,192 $ 34,493,228 $1,308,669 $ 348,264 $ 35,453,633 $34,797,559
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10. Tangible Capital Assets - continued

Historical Cost Accumulated Amortization

2023
Opening Additions Additions

due to ARO
Disposals Closing Opening Additions Disposal Closing Net Book

Value

General fund
Land $ 1,648,517 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,648,517 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1,648,517
Building sites and parks 2,766,117 - 187,170 - 2,953,287 1,908,213 91,712 - 1,999,925 953,362
Engineering structures 1,008,562 - 30,475 - 1,039,037 358,613 38,326 - 396,939 642,098
Furniture and equipment 325,767 - - - 325,767 201,740 41,236 - 242,976 82,791
Hydrants 186,643 - - - 186,643 157,721 2,460 - 160,181 26,462
Machinery and equipment 2,478,919 40,113 - - 2,519,032 1,726,135 98,749 - 1,824,884 694,148
Planters 118,329 - - - 118,329 106,506 4,531 - 111,037 7,292
Roads 17,882,299 213,729 - 35,358 18,060,670 7,837,707 429,879 20,227 8,247,359 9,813,311
Storm system 9,597,111 188,835 2,357 - 9,788,303 4,368,364 106,636 - 4,475,000 5,313,303
Assets under construction 457,720 78,983 - 25,306 511,397 - - - - 511,397

36,469,984 521,660 220,002 60,664 37,150,982 16,664,999 813,529 20,227 17,458,301 19,692,681

Water fund
Buildings 966,257 - 166,674 - 1,132,931 717,555 32,475 - 750,030 382,901
Water mains 11,443,274 72,464 603,302 - 12,119,040 6,728,271 179,986 - 6,908,257 5,210,783
Water system 4,132,248 - - - 4,132,248 3,124,994 64,936 - 3,189,930 942,318
Assets under construction 14,721 81,487 - - 96,208 - - - - 96,208

16,556,500 153,951 769,976 - 17,480,427 10,570,820 277,397 - 10,848,217 6,632,210

Sewer fund
Buildings 133,966 - - - 133,966 63,636 3,349 - 66,985 66,981
Sanitary sewer system 4,900,991 - 18,337 - 4,919,328 2,999,074 136,540 - 3,135,614 1,783,714
Sewer mains and lift stations 5,791,945 45,277 10,492 - 5,847,714 2,901,971 82,140 - 2,984,111 2,863,603
Assets under construction 15,374 - - - 15,374 - - - - 15,374

10,842,276 45,277 28,829 - 10,916,382 5,964,681 222,029 - 6,186,710 4,729,672

$ 63,868,760 $ 720,888 $1,018,807 $ 60,664 $ 65,547,791 $ 33,200,500 $1,312,955 $ 20,227 $ 34,493,228 $31,054,563
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11.  Accumulated Surplus

The accumulated surplus consists of individual fund balances and reserves as follows:

Surplus 2024 2023

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 31,867,510 $ 27,998,626
General surplus 3,611,703 3,661,553
Enderby / Area F Joint Services surplus 668,038 655,556
Sewer surplus 1,423,174 1,285,696
Water surplus 452,248 534,891

38,022,673 34,136,322

Reserve Funds

Animal Control 32,796 30,358
Asset Management 333,676 278,384
Capacity Building 390,268 186,547
Cemetery 101,517 79,014
Community Works Fund (Gas Tax) 228,965 396,014
Computer Equipment 54,693 48,249
Equipment 774,174 643,665
Fire Department 264,759 456,775
Fortune Parks 1,054,163 626,237
Growing Communities Fund * 1,634,060 1,672,413
Parks 196,984 175,113
Riverside RV Park 97,445 75,614
Sewer System 1,140,313 591,317
Water System 817,090 705,024

7,120,903 5,964,724

$ 45,143,576 $ 40,101,046

*In 2023, the City received funding from the Province of British Columbia to assist in funding for capital infrastructure
and amenities for future growth. The following shows how these funds were expended and the amount available for future
years: 

2024 2023

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,672,413 $ -

Funds received in March 2023 - 1,707,000

Interest earned 84,725 46,900
Eligible costs incurred:

Drinking water supply and distribution (123,078) (81,487)

Balance, end of year $ 1,634,060 $ 1,672,413
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12. COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant

The City received funding from the Province of British Columbia to fund increased operating costs and revenue
shortfalls due to COVID-19. The following shows how these funds were expended and the amount available for future
years:

2024 2023

Balance, beginning of year $ 418,239 $ 546,660

Eligible costs incurred:
Computer and technology costs (30,470) (45,374)
Facility operating costs (80,548) (51,700)
Protective services (65,945) (31,347)

Total eligible costs incurred (176,963) (128,421)

Balance, end of year $ 241,276 $ 418,239
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13. Contingent Liabilities

(a) Regional District of North Okanagan:  The City is a member of the Regional District of North Okanagan and is liable for
its portion of any operating deficits or long-term debt related to functions in which it participates.

(b) Municipal Insurance Association of BC: Commencing December 31, 1987, the City of Enderby entered into a self
insurance scheme with British Columbia municipalities and regional districts. The City is obliged under the scheme to
pay a percentage of its fellow insurers' losses.  The City pays an annual premium, which is anticipated to be adequate to
cover any losses incurred.

(c) Pension Liabilities: The Municipality and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed
pension plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the
plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension
plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2023, the Plan has about 256,000 active
members and approximately 129,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 45,000 contributors from
local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan
funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan.  The
actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on the entry age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of
member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any
unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a $3,761 million
funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024. 

The Corporation of the City of Enderby paid $96,720 (2023 - $90,983) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal
2024. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during
the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and
accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets
and cost to individual employers participating in the plan.

21

Page No. 63 of 104



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024             

14.  Taxation

Taxation revenue comprises the following amounts raised less transfers:

Budget 2024 2023

Taxation
General municipal purposes $ 2,080,850 $ 2,047,157 $ 1,900,165
1% utility taxes 73,650 73,665 72,634
Water parcel 337,000 337,242 311,919
Sewer parcel 284,700 284,742 273,661
Collections for other governments

School District 1,308,754 1,319,138 1,234,245
Policing 218,903 220,777 204,830
Regional District 488,154 492,334 465,111
Regional Hospital District 199,845 201,556 197,809
Municipal Finance Authority 174 176 168
B.C. Assessment Authority 31,687 31,961 29,900
Okanagan Regional Library 121,989 123,053 116,492

5,145,706 5,131,801 4,806,934

Transfers
School District 1,308,754 1,319,138 1,234,245
Policing 218,903 220,777 204,830
Regional District 488,154 492,300 465,119
Regional Hospital District 199,845 201,536 197,783
Municipal Finance Authority 174 176 168
B.C. Assessment Authority 31,687 31,961 29,900
Okanagan Regional Library 121,989 123,033 116,499

2,369,506 2,388,921 2,248,544

$ 2,776,200 $ 2,742,880 $ 2,558,390
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15.  Government Grants and Transfers

Budget 2024 2023

Federal
Community works fund - Gas tax $ 197,500 $ 201,288 $ 196,917

Provincial
Conditional 505,800 56,999 1,689,691
Fortune Parks - conditional 3,056,310 1,011,300 24,672
Sewer - conditional 3,350 3,333 -
Small communities protection 484,000 530,700 484,000
Street lighting 1,400 1,395 1,395
Water - conditional 3,350 3,333 81,487

4,054,210 1,607,060 2,281,245
Other

Animal control 6,540 20,890 19,160
Cemetery 34,730 54,100 51,640
Fortune Parks 824,940 824,940 774,510

866,210 899,930 845,310

$ 5,117,920 $ 2,708,278 $ 3,323,472

16.  Sales of Service

Budget 2024 2023

Animal control $ 12,000 $ 12,741 $ 12,090
Building permits 53,700 103,295 71,406
Business licenses 16,400 19,025 20,275
Cemetery 23,500 25,057 17,993
Fire protection 400,950 421,590 155,937
Fortune Parks 272,200 247,304 290,867
Garbage collection and disposal 120,375 119,280 115,552
Riverside RV Park & tourism 300,600 300,320 299,824
Sewer user fees 624,978 653,314 616,955
Water user fees 601,560 703,915 613,044

$ 2,426,263 $ 2,605,841 $ 2,213,943
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17. Expenses by Object

Budget 2024 2023

Accretion $ - $ 255,192 $ 43,849
Advertising and publications 19,700 11,639 16,691
Amortization - 1,308,668 1,312,955
Contracted services 964,450 557,749 516,481
Council grants 66,840 67,459 66,184
Insurance 81,150 75,113 64,727
Interest and bank charges 166,030 168,021 151,387
Maintenance 1,327,550 1,142,418 1,176,441
Materials and supplies 1,320,510 496,825 346,056
Professional fees 37,850 29,611 22,967
Salaries and benefits 1,841,319 1,785,497 1,686,102
Training, travel and conferences 99,800 73,755 98,255
Transfers (23,503) (21,630) (9,514)

$ 5,901,696 $ 5,950,317 $ 5,492,581

18. Funds Held in Trust

The City operates and maintains the Cliffside Cemetery. As required under Provincial legislation, the City holds in trust a
Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund for the future maintenance of the cemetery. The City has excluded the trust fund and
associated cash from the Statement of Financial Potion and related interest earnings and transactions from the Statement of
Operations and Accumulated Surplus:

Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund:
2024 2023

Balance, beginning of year $ 265,947 $ 250,544
Care fund contributions 4,087 2,595
Interest earned 13,758 12,808

Balance, end of year $ 283,792 $ 265,947
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19. Financial Plan

The Financial Plan anticipated use of surpluses accumulated in previous years to balance against current year expenses in
excess of current year revenues. The following shows how these amounts were combined:

2024 2023

Budget surplus per Statement of Operations 5,045,367 4,279,453
Less:

Capital expenditures (7,729,000) (4,361,500)
Debt principal payments (93,560) (88,645)
Transfers to reserve funds (2,587,130) (3,373,416)

Add back:
Borrowing proceeds - 400,000
Transfers from accumulated surplus and reserve funds 5,364,323 3,144,108

Budget surplus per Financial Plan Bylaw $ - $ -

20.  Financial Instruments

The City is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk from its financial instruments. The City has practices
in place to identify major risks, which are monitored and managed to the best of its ability. 

There have not been any changes from the prior year in the City's exposure to these risks, or the policies, procedures and
methods it uses to manage and measure the risks.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The City is exposed to interest rate risk through its long-term debt and through the value
of portfolio investments. 

The City manages interest rate risk on its long-term debt by holding all debt through the Municipal Finance Authority at a
fixed rate, with refinancing typically being completed at the ten or fifteen year mark following the date of the original debt
issuance. See Note 8 for interest rates and maturity dates for long-term debt.

Investments are primarily comprised of term deposits and are deemed to be low risk and not subject to significant changes
in value due to changes in interest rates. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the City will incur financial losses if a debtor fails to make payments when due. The City is
exposed to credit risk from its cash, portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The City manages its credit risk with respect to cash and portfolio investments by maintaining its investments with
reputable financial institutions, while ensuring that investments are made in accordance with Section 183 of the Community
Charter. The maximum exposure to credit risk to cash is limited to the balance held at year end and the maximum
exposure to credit risk to portfolio investments is outlined in Note 3.  
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Financial Instruments - continued

The City manages it credit risk with respect to accounts receivable through signed agreements and credit policies. The City
also has the ability to recover receivables associated with properties, such as utility fees, through the property tax
collection process. The maximum exposure to credit risk to accounts receivable is outlined in Note 4.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the City will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The City is
exposed to liquidity risk through its accounts payable and long-term debt.  

The City manages this risk by maintaining a balance of short term and/or highly liquid investments and closely monitoring
cash flows and staggering maturity dates of its investment portfolio to meet cash flow needs. The City also has the ability
to adopt a Revenue Anticipation Borrowing Bylaw under Section 177 of the Community Charter to borrow short term to
finance its operations until revenue from property taxes is received.  

The timing of cash flows to meet its financial obligations are within one year in relation to accounts payable, as outlined in
Note 6 and the timing of principal payments in relation to long-term debt are outlined in Note 8.  

It is management's opinion that the City is not exposed to significant interest, credit or liquidity risks arising from these
financial instruments. 

21.  Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial presentation adopted for the current year.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024

22. Segmented Information

The City of Enderby is a municipality that is responsible for the good government of the community. This includes
providing services, laws and other matters for community benefit, as well as providing stewardship of public assets and
fostering economic well-being. The City fulfills these responsibilities through a range of services. For management
reporting purposes, the City's services are organized and reported by Fund. Funds were created for the purpose of
recording specific activities to attain defined objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations.

General Government
General Government is comprised of Executive and Administrative functions. The Executive function includes Mayor
and Council, who are responsible for considering the well-being and interests of the municipality and the community,
including contributing to the development and evaluation of the policies, programs, and bylaws of the municipality
respecting its services, in accordance with governing legislation. The Administrative function is responsible for the
overall management of the operations of the municipality and is responsible for ensuring that the policies, programs,
and bylaws of Council are implemented. The Administrative function is also responsible for ensuring sound and
effective financial management of the municipality, which includes functions such as financial planning, collecting
taxes, and the investment of municipal funds. 

Protective Services
Protective Services includes fire suppression, prevention and inspection services, community safety services, and
emergency management including mitigation and prevention, preparedness, response, and recovery services. 

Transportation Services
Transportation Services includes the design, operation, and maintenance of roads and drainage, including street
sweeping, line painting, and snow and ice clearing.

Solid Waste Services
Solid Waste Services provides for the collection and disposal of residential solid waste, including curbside collection
of garbage and the annual curbside collection of yard and garden waste.

Enderby / Area F Services
Enderby / Area F Services includes Fortune Parks, which is responsible for the administration, stewardship, and
operation of park services that are shared with Area F of the Regional District of North Okanagan, including the pool,
spray park, ball diamonds, and arena. Other services provided include Animal (Dog) Control within the City and part
of Area F, and Cemetery Services for the City and Area F.

Riverside RV Park & Tourism
The Riverside RV Park is a campground operated by the City, which supports tourism and community events,
including the operation of the Visitor Centre. 

Community Development Services
Community Development Services provides for the City's current and long-range planning functions. Services include
land use regulation, subdivision, and planning for future growth in accordance with the needs and goals of the
community. 

Recreational and Cultural Services
Recreational and Cultural Services provides for the planning, operation, and maintenance of City parks, such as Tuey
Park, Belvedere Park, the Riverwalk, Veterans Park, and Johnston Park.
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Segmented Information - continued

Water Services
Water Services provides for the treatment and distribution of safe, clean drinking water to the citizens of Enderby as
well as nearby communities in accordance with the Drinking Water Protection Act and the Guidelines for Canadian
Drinking Water Quality. 

Sewer Services
Sewer Services provides for the collection and treatment of liquid waste, or sanitary wastewater, in accordance with
the Environmental Management Act and the City's permit requirements.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in preparation of the financial
statements as disclosed in Note 2. For additional information see the Schedule of Segment Disclosure - Service
(Schedule 1).
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Schedule of Segment Disclosure - Service 

For the year ended December 31, 2024 Schedule I

General revenue fund

General
Government

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Solid Waste
Services

Enderby /
Area F

Services

Riverside RV
Park &

Tourism

Other
general

Services*
Water 

Services
Sewer

Services 2024

Revenues
Taxation $ 2,120,896 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 337,242 $ 284,742 $ 2,742,880
Grants and subsidies 105,790 142,827 532,095 1,911,230 9,670 3,333 3,333 2,708,278
Sales of services 122,320 421,590 119,280 285,102 300,320 703,915 653,314 2,605,841
Other revenue from own sources 114,627 114,627
Interest and penalties 655,709 36,290 12,306 704,305
Developer contributions 1,618,446 241,836 265,580 2,125,862

4,737,788 564,417 532,095 119,280 2,232,622 322,296 - 1,286,326 1,206,969 11,001,793

Expenses
Accretion 41,824 16,796 742 8,564 179,908 7,358 255,192
Advertising and publications 2,438 5,330 3,871 11,639
Amortization 101,636 65,019 570,759 62,138 286,076 223,040 1,308,668
Contracted services 89,070 44,729 115,021 116,269 65,069 127,591 557,749
Council grants 10,484 56,975 67,459
Insurance 48,783 24,540 1,790 75,113
Interest and bank charges 158,820 2,522 6,679 168,021
Maintenance 52,344 96,808 319,825 186,033 31,071 252,809 203,528 1,142,418
Material and supplies 87,978 7,656 22,515 105 161,972 132,357 51,599 32,643 496,825
Professional fees 28,597 1,014 29,611
Salaries and benefits 652,644 95,731 252,910 613 404,837 5,200 26,589 198,150 148,823 1,785,497
Training, travel and conferences 29,514 35,902 2,590 2,192 1,866 1,691 73,755
Transfers (274,028) (166,212) 2,500 67,965 9,500 197,184 141,461 (21,630)

1,030,104 362,641 1,003,129 118,239 1,100,351 255,537 154,180 1,167,592 758,544 5,950,317

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses

3,707,684 201,776 (471,034) 1,041 1,132,271 66,759 (154,180) 118,734 448,425 5,051,476

Loss on disposal of tangible
capital assets

(8,946) (8,946)

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 3,698,738 $ 201,776 $ (471,034) $ 1,041 $ 1,132,271 $ 66,759 $ (154,180) $ 118,734 448,425 $ 5,042,530

*Includes Community Development and Recreational and Cultural Services.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Schedule of Segment Disclosure - Service 

For the year ended December 31, 2023 Schedule I (cont'd)

General revenue fund

General
Government

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Solid Waste
Services

Enderby /
Area F

Services

Riverside RV
Park &

Tourism

Other
General 

Services*
Water

Services
Sewer

Services 2023

Revenues
Taxation $ 1,972,810 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 311,919 $ 273,661 $ 2,558,390
Grants and subsidies 1,734,111 142,827 485,395 869,982 9,670 81,487 3,323,472
Sales of services 91,681 155,937 115,552 320,950 299,824 613,044 616,955 2,213,943
Other revenue from own sources 200,377 200,377
Interest and penalties 515,667 32,976 548,643

4,514,646 298,764 485,395 115,552 1,223,908 309,494 - 1,006,450 890,616 8,844,825

Expenses
Accretion 4,556 1,066 28 469 36,955 775 43,849
Advertising and publications 2,946 7,909 5,836 16,691
Amortization 115,708 62,434 564,356 71,031 277,397 222,029 1,312,955
Contracted services 52,259 42,545 113,144 117,097 61,130 113,523 16,783 516,481
Council grants 8,229 57,955 66,184
Insurance 41,658 21,909 1,160 64,727
Interest and bank charges 142,951 2,356 6,080 151,387
Maintenance 64,087 105,216 290,862 191,796 35,435 229,150 259,895 1,176,441
Material and supplies 38,182 32,373 3,773 92 128,479 121,329 3,642 18,186 346,056
Professional fees 22,967 22,967
Salaries and benefits 607,065 106,896 245,474 515 364,825 3,698 24,537 182,809 150,283 1,686,102
Training, travel and conferences 63,507 28,985 2,031 2,132 800 800 98,255
Transfers (243,070) (148,437) 2,000 67,770 8,000 166,943 137,280 (9,514)

921,045 379,515 958,087 115,751 1,033,728 242,668 138,060 914,479 789,248 5,492,581

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses

3,593,601 (80,751) (472,692) (199) 190,180 66,826 (138,060) 91,971 101,368 3,352,244

Loss on disposal of tangible
capital assets

(15,131) (15,131)

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 3,578,470 $ (80,751) $ (472,692) $ (199) $ 190,180 $ 66,826 $ (138,060) $ 91,971 $ 101,368 $ 3,337,113

*Includes Community Development and Recreational and Cultural Services.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF ENDERBY
Enderby/Area F Services (Unaudited)

For the year ended December 31, 2024 Schedule II

Fortune
Parks

Animal
Control Cemetery 2024 2023

Revenue
Grants and subsidies $ 1,836,240 $ 20,890 $ 54,100 $ 1,911,230 $ 869,982
Sale of services 247,304 12,741 25,057 285,102 320,950
Interest and penalties 22,574 3,075 10,641 36,290 32,976

2,106,118 36,706 89,798 2,232,622 1,223,908

Expenses
Accretion 8,564 8,564 469
Advertising 5,330 5,330 7,909
Amortization 62,138 62,138 71,031
Contracted services 103,244 13,025 116,269 117,097
Grants 49,975 7,000 56,975 57,955
Insurance 24,540 24,540 21,909
Interest and bank charges 2,522 2,522 2,356
Maintenance 160,720 7,735 17,578 186,033 191,796
Materials and supplies 161,972 161,972 128,479
Professional fees 1,014 1,014 -
Salaries and benefits 393,346 1,930 9,561 404,837 364,825
Training, travel and conferences 2,192 2,192 2,132

975,557 22,690 34,139 1,032,386 965,958

Annual surplus (deficit) $1,130,561 $ 14,016 $ 55,659 $ 1,200,236 $ 257,950

Transfer to/from general fund
Computer support $ 9,250 $ $ $ 9,250 $ 8,900
Finance overhead charges 24,950 5,230 9,530 39,710 38,190
Insurance allocation 4,035 870 4,905 8,899
Public works equipment allocation 9,240 9,240 7,111
Lease 4,860 4,860 4,670

38,235 10,090 19,640 67,965 67,770

Net change in financial assets 1,092,326 3,926 36,019 1,132,271 190,180
Opening surplus 408,038 55,642 191,876 655,556 629,673
Amortization 62,138 62,138 71,031
Capital expenditures (748,326) (18,001) (766,327) (25,791)
Transfer from (to) reserves (396,200) (900) (18,500) (415,600) (209,537)

Enderby / Area F accumulated
surplus

$ 417,976 $ 58,668 $ 191,394 $ 668,038 $ 655,556

31

Page No. 73 of 104



R
D

N
O

B
u

il
d

in
g

P
e

rm
it

s
Is

s
u

e
d

C
o

m
p

a
ri

s
o

n
fo

r
Y

e
a

r/
M

o
n

th
-

S
u

m
m

a
ry

P
a

g
e
:

1
J
u

n
6

,
2

0
2

5
1

0
:5

9
:1

5
A

M

A
re

a
:

C
IT

Y
O

F
E

N
D

E
R

B
Y

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

P
E

R
M

IT
S

C
a
te

g
o

ry
:

Y
e
a
r:

2
0
2
5

M
o

n
th

:
0
5

--
--

--
--

--
--

-- -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

-
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

- -
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
2

0
2
4

to
0
5

--
--

--
--

--
--

-- -
2

0
2
5

to
0

5
2
0

2
4

0
5

/
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
-

/
0
5

2
0

2
5

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
- -

F
o

ld
e

r
R

e
s
.

U
n

it
s

B
u

il
d

in
g

R
e

s
.

U
n

it
s

B
u

il
d

in
g

B
u

il
d

in
g

R
e
s
.

U
n

it
s

P
e
rm

it
s

P
e
rm

it
s

P
e
rm

it
s

P
e
rm

it
s

B
u

il
d

in
g

R
e
s
.

U
n

it
s

T
y
p

e
C

re
a
te

d
V

a
lu

e
C

re
a
te

d
V

a
lu

e
C

re
a
te

d
V

a
lu

e
V

a
lu

e
C

re
a
te

d
Is

s
u

e
d

Is
s
u

e
d

Is
s
u

e
d

Is
s
u

e
d

0
2
,5

0
0

1
0

0
0

0
2

,5
0

0
1

0
A

C
C

E
S

S
O

R
Y

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

A
G

R
IC

U
L
T

U
R

A
L

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
D

E
M

O
L
IT

IO
N

0
0

0
2
5
,0

0
0

1
4

2
0
1
,6

3
2

0
0

0
0

1
E

N
D

-
A

C
C

E
S

S
O

R
Y

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

9
5

,0
0

0
0

1
1

5
0
,0

0
0

1
3

1
,3

1
0
,0

0
0

3
0

0
0

0
E

N
D

-
C

O
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

0
0

0
1
,5

0
0

2
1

0
0

0
1

,5
0

0
2

0
E

N
D

-
D

E
M

O
L

IT
IO

N
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
E

N
D

-
IN

D
U

S
T

R
IA

L
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
E

N
D

-
IN

S
T

IT
U

T
IO

N
A

L
0

0
1

5
,0

0
0

1
0

0
0

1
5

,0
0

0
1

0
E

N
D

-
M

A
N

U
F

A
C

T
U

R
E

D
H

O
M

E
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
E

N
D

-
M

O
D

U
L
A

R
H

O
M

E
0

0
4

1
,3

0
0
,0

0
0

2
3

3
7
2
,0

0
0

0
2

6
0
0

,0
0

0
1

0
E

N
D

-
M

U
L
T

I
F

A
M

IL
Y

D
W

E
L
L

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

E
N

D
-

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
1

4
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
E

N
D

-
P

O
O

L
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
E

N
D

-
R

E
T

A
IN

IN
G

W
A

L
L

0
0

3
3

9
7
,0

0
0

2
1

5
4
0
,0

0
0

2
0

0
0

1
E

N
D

-
S

F
D

W
/S

U
IT

E
5
4
0

,0
0

0
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

E
N

D
-

S
IG

N
0

0
2

8
4
0
,0

0
0

2
3

2
4
0
,6

0
0

1
2

8
4
0

,0
0

0
2

0
E

N
D

-
S

IN
G

L
E

F
A

M
IL

Y
D

W
E

L
L

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

IN
S

T
IT

U
T

IO
N

A
L

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

M
A

N
U

F
A

C
T

U
R

E
D

H
O

M
E

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

M
O

D
U

L
A

R
H

O
M

E
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
M

U
L
T

I
F

A
M

IL
Y

D
W

E
L
L

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
L

D
P

IM
S

P
E

R
M

IT
S

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

P
L
U

M
B

IN
G

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

P
O

O
L

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

R
E

T
A

IN
IN

G
W

A
L
L

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

S
IG

N
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
S

IN
G

L
E

F
A

M
IL

Y
D

W
E

L
L
IN

G
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
S

O
L
ID

F
U

E
L

B
U

R
N

IN
G

A
P

P
L
IA

N
C

0
0

2
,7

2
1
,0

0
0

1
2

1
1

6
1
6

6
,6

6
4
,2

3
2

1
,4

4
9

,0
0

0
7

5
2

2
R

e
p

o
rt

T
o

ta
ls

6
3
5

,0
0

0

R
e
g

io
n

a
l
D

is
tr

ic
t

o
f

N
o
rt

h
O

k
a

n
a

g
a
n

\\
n
o
rd

\r
d

n
o
\D

a
ta

b
a
s
e

s
\T

e
m

p
e
s
t\

A
p
p

lic
a
ti
o

n
s
\T

e
m

p
e
s
tL

iv
e
\I

N
H

O
U

S
E

\C
D

0
0
0
0

3
6

_
A

R
E

A
.Q

R
P

Page No. 74 of 104



Page No. 75 of 104



Page No. 76 of 104



Page No. 77 of 104



Page No. 78 of 104



Page No. 79 of 104



Page No. 80 of 104



Page No. 81 of 104



Page No. 82 of 104



Page No. 83 of 104



Page No. 84 of 104



Page No. 85 of 104



Page No. 86 of 104



Page No. 87 of 104



Page No. 88 of 104



Page No. 89 of 104



Page No. 90 of 104



Page No. 91 of 104



Page No. 92 of 104



Page No. 93 of 104



Page No. 94 of 104



Page No. 95 of 104



Page No. 96 of 104



Page No. 97 of 104



Page No. 98 of 104



Page No. 99 of 104



Page No. 100 of 104



Page No. 101 of 104



Page No. 102 of 104



Page No. 103 of 104



Page No. 104 of 104


	Council Minutes June 2, 2025
	Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw No. 1820, 2025 - 612 Cliff Avenue
	Request for Installation of Crosswalk at Intersection of Brickyard Road and Pleasant Avenue
	UBCM 2025 Provincial Meeting Requests and Attendance
	2024 Annual Report
	2024-Annual-Report.pdf
	Auditreport


	MAY_END_SUMMARY
	Bylaw Enforcement Statistics for First Period of 2025 (Jan - Apr)
	Proclamation of National Drowning Prevention Week 2025
	SDC Golf & Cultural Event
	Friday Night Lights Burnout Competition - Letter of Support
	Municipal Security Issuing Resolutions - 2025 Fall Borrowing
	One-Year Anniversary ssmuh
	Miscellaneous Statutes Amendments Act (Bill 13)
	Village of Chase



